

"Play, Connect, Create": Delineating Valve's Steam Platformisation Strategy Through its

Affordances



Charis Papaevangelou (6154824)

New Media & Digital Culture

M.A. Thesis

Supervisor: dr. Stefan Werning

Second Reader: dr. René Glas

Utrecht, 23-04-2018

Contents					
Contents					
Abstract	2				
Keywords	2				
1. Introduction					
1.1. Thesis Statement & Research Question					
1.2. Academic Relevance	6				
2. Theoretical Framework					
2.1. Platforms & Platformisation					
2.1.1. Platforms' Discourse					
2.1.2. Platformisation's Discourse					
2.2. Procedural Rhetoric					
3. Methodology					
3.1. Affordances					
3.2. Limitations					
3.3. Corpus					
3.3.1. Steam Community Market (SCM)					
3.3.2. <i>Steam</i> Trading Cards (STC)					
3.3.3. <i>Steam</i> Application Programming Interface (API)					
4. Analysis					
'Ubiquitous Presence' Pattern					
'Social Media Affordances' Pattern					
'Feedback Loops' Pattern					
'Meta-Game Elements' Pattern					
5. Conclusion					
Works Cited					

Abstract

One could argue that we live in the era of digital platforms: organisations, which by accumulating and analysing our data, aim at maximising not only their revenues but also their strategic vantage points in our 'datafied' society. Platformisation has, thus, come to connotate the dipole of ubiquity and standardisation that digital platforms aim to achieve via numerous sociotechnical features. Steam, since its inauguration in 2003, has amassed thousands of titles of video-games, attracting millions of users, placing itself as the leading digital distributor of videogames. However, during the last decade, Steam has progressively adopted the model of a social entertainment platform by adopting characteristics that were previously only found on social media, while 'pushing' a gamification of its own platform. Therefore, with this thesis I am contending that *Steam* has fully adopted a platformisation strategy, aiming to consolidate its position within and across the video-game distribution, and industry in general. To accentuate and delineate this development, I have chosen to proceed with an affordance analysis of three unique Steam features that interconnect in order to create the necessary conditions for the aforesaid strategy to take place. Finally, I have constructed my analysis' findings according to four patterns, which are, essentially, the cornerstones of *Steam*'s complex platformisation mechanism.

Keywords

Steam, Valve, platformisation, social media, platform, feedback loop, procedural rhetoric, affordances, meta-game, Steam Economy, Steam Trading Cards, Steam Community Market, Steam API, API, Warframe, PUBG, Team Fortress 2

1. Introduction

The idea for this thesis arose from an elusive impression that struck me while using *Steam*: I was casually playing *PlayerUnknown's Battlegrounds* (PUBG Corp.) when I realised that I had a couple of loot-boxes containing various in-game cosmetics, a practice widely spread nowadays. However, I could not actually unlock them because I was missing some special required keys; then, I decided to search what was all the fuss about. So, I hit 'Shift + Tab' to open the *in-game* Steam Overlay, went through a couple of forum topics and found out that I had to actually buy these keys. Since I could not care less about in-game cosmetics, I decided to leave the loot-boxes as they were; but, it was then that *Steam* informed me (i.e. by hovering my mouse's cursor over them) that they were of actual cost, and that I could sell them on the Steam Community Market for roughly \blacksquare . It was my first listing and I actually received the corresponding Steam Wallet Funds. When reflecting on the whole event, I was surprised by how *Steam* has evolved over the years; when joining the platform on 2009 it was still a digital distributor of video-games. Nine years later, the landscape is completely different.

Steam, since its inauguration in 2003 ("Steam (Software)") has amassed thousands of titles of video-games, attracting millions of users¹, placing itself as the leading digital distributor of video-games. However, during the last decade, *Steam* has progressively adopted the model of a "social entertainment platform," as they also admit (Figure 1). Possibly related to that, *Steam* has been steadily increasing its digital titles year after year, with 7,672 games getting released on the platform only in 2017 (Kuchera). The number seen in Figure 2, especially from 2012-13 onwards, beget some questions, such as "what exactly happened to create such an upsurge?"

¹ Today, the 22nd of April 2018, *Steam* has 15 million concurrent users <u>http://store.steampowered.com/stats/</u>).

Certainly, one could hastily respond that the culprit has to be the Steam Direct (former

Greenlight) program, which allows indie developers to release their work for \$100 (Matulef),

and though it is a sound explanation, I hesitate to name it as the absolute cause.



Figure 1. Steam's Frontpage

1.1. Thesis Statement & Research Question

With this thesis, I am contending that *Steam* has fully adopted a **platformisation strategy** by integrating features that foster *sociality*, resembling that of *Social Networking Sites* (SNSs), as well as, by providing users with the necessary tools to partake in *content creation* and *further expansion* of the platform itself; the latter can even refer to channels that go beyond *Steam* (i.e. third-party apps) but, which, in any case feed back to the platform, hence creating a *feedback*



Figure 2. SteamSpy's Chart of Games Released

loop. Moreover, *Steam* has pushed forward a "gamification" (Deterding et al.) of its own platform by adopting meta-game elements, such as achievements, badges etc., similarly to how social media platforms have done so in the past (e.g. *Foursquare*). What is unique about *Steam*, though, is the way in which this meta-game layer is entangled with video-games released on the platform and how this layer, eventually, supports the constitution of the aforesaid platformisation strategy.

Therefore, I aim to highlight and explain how this is taking shape by delving into some of *Steam*'s unique features, namely **Steam's Community Market**, **Steam Trading Cards**, and **Steam's Application Programming Interface**, so as to enquire their affordances and how they underpin *Steam*'s platformisation strategy. An intriguing fact is that these three features were released in temporal proximity², which might also hint a specific turning point for *Steam*, whereupon its platformisation strategy began to formulate. As a result, the thesis' leading research question will be:

RQ: How do *Steam*'s platform and features affordances, specifically the Steam

Community Market, Steam Trading Cards and Steam API, interrelate in order to constitute a

platformisation strategy?

In order to be as precise and concrete as possible, I have chosen the following sub-questions:

SQ1: How is platform defined in this instance, and what does platformisation mean in the case of *Steam*?

SQ2: How is a *Steam*-bound feedback loop instigated through the affordances of these three features?

SQ3: How is *Steam* adopting elements of social media platforms built on gaming as a central form of online social interaction?

² Steam Community Market & Steam Trading Cards were launched in 2013 (Makuch; "Steam Trading Cards Wiki") coincidentally it was also in 2013 that Steam decided to expand its products' range from solely video-games to non-video game software (Petitte). Steam API began being widely distributed and used after 2010 ("Steam (Software)").

The above research sub-questions, essentially, author the structure and flow of my thesis. The first SQ answers to platforms at large and introduces the discussion around them while situating it within the context of *Steam*. The second SQ accounts for the corpus selection and the methodological approach, which is an affordance analysis, targeting to delineate the processes enabled by these features. Finally, the third SQ seeks to address the social media characteristics of *Steam*, which are a fundamental component of the platformisation strategy, and play a crucial role regarding the analytical chapter of my thesis.

Concluding, I have chosen to discuss and structure my affordance analysis' findings according to four patterns which are: (i) the 'ubiquitous presence' pattern, (ii) the 'social media affordances' pattern, (iii) the 'feedback loops' pattern, and (iv) the 'meta-game elements' pattern. The manner in which I have decided to operationalise the analysis in my thesis is by **demonstrating illustrative examples** of how these features interconnect, essentially delineating a designer-envisioned path for the user; what is more, I have borrowed the conceptual framework for investigating and analysing affordances as proposed by Matthew Curinga, in which he approaches affordances as quasi- textual characteristics that enable the meaning-making process (Curinga 4). In other words, the procedural rhetoric of "computational arguments" (Bogost and Montfort 2), that have been developed for *Steam*, will assist me in exploring how "users are imagined" (Weltevrede 14) and guided to perform certain actions.

1.2. Academic Relevance

The sources that I draw upon to contribute to the platformisation discourse originate mainly from literature that has tackled phenomena relating to digital platforms, platformisation, game studies, and affordances within the context of software analysis. Though due to space restrictions it would be impossible to extensively elaborate on each source; hence, I will briefly mention a few

indicating scholars that have contributed to this project. Regarding the platforms and platformisation strategy, I have consulted scholars like José van Dijck, who has written two books concerning the platform paradigm and introduced the term "platform society," Tarleton Gillespie, who has elaborated on the metaphoric use of platforms and its inevitable implications and obfuscations, and Nick Montfort and Ian Bogost, who attempted to establish their interpretation of "platform studies" by elevating the material-technical aspect of platforms.

Subsequently, other research material derives from Anne Helmond, who not only has done extensive research on the platforms' structure but, also, coined the term "platformisation," which eloquently describes the on-going process of the paradigmatic shift in the gulps of online digital platforms, Nick Srnicek, who has harshly criticised platforms for obscuring the fact of being unneutral and tending to monopolisation strategies, and others who I will be referring to the following chapters. In addition, regarding the game-studies aspect, I have mainly referred to Ian Bogost's book *Persuasive Games* and his proposed concept of "procedural rhetoric." Lastly, relating to affordances, I have primarily used Matthew Curinga's paper, in which he basically discusses how affordance analysis can prove more than fruitful towards examining software, and Anne Helmond's and Taina Bucher's work on investigating social media-specific affordances.

The need and desire for my research arose while I was going through all of the above sources. I reckon that my thesis contributes to the platformisation discourse from an angle which has yet to be thoroughly explored, that of closing in on a video-games' distribution/ "social entertainment" (Figure 1) platform. I consider my research to be of help in further studying the extensions of platformisation in general but, also, in the context of video-games. This is the reason why I have decided to also incorporate the concept of "procedural rhetoric" (Bogost); I believe that game-analytical terminology helps in better perceiving the meta-layers of *Steam*.

Consequently, I purport that *Steam* has accumulated such great power, to the extent that one could argue of a monopoly, and I feel that as scholars, it is our duty to critically investigate and unveil such phenomena. An example, which will be expounded on in the analytical chapter, is Steam Economy, a feature that enables *Steam* users to purchase in-game goods with Steam Wallet Funds, even on third-party sites (e.g. video-games' websites), thus, potentially, creating a parallel 'virtual' economy.

Recapitulating, I wish to examine the affordances of three features, which play, in my opinion, a major role in organising and actualising the platformisation strategy of *Steam*. In the second chapter, I expound on my theoretical framework, which draws from relevant literature regarding digital platforms and platformisation, as well as, the game-analytical concept of procedural rhetoric. In the third chapter, I explicate the reason why I chose to proceed with an affordance analysis, as well as, how I intend to operationalise it in my research. In the fourth chapter, I move on to the analysis of my corpus, which is constructed according to four patterns, which include illustrative examples of how these features establish the platformisation strategy of *Steam*. In the concluding chapter, I will summarise my findings, and reflect on my research as a whole.

2. Theoretical Framework

2.1. Platforms & Platformisation

2.1.1. Platforms' Discourse

A platform could be perceived as a mutable term, depending on the environment within which is being investigated. Initially, platforms were the elevated surface from which politicians would address the public, hence, gradually becoming interwoven with the idea of a place from which ideas could be voiced (Gillespie "The Politics of Platforms" 350). Benjamin Bratton, in his book The Stack: On Software and Sovereignty, argues that the term 'platform' is as old as it is complex to define (Bratton 42), and suggests that a platform is a place where technological and economic systems converge and collide in order to create "a standards-based technical-economic system that simultaneously distributes interfaces through their remote coordination and centralizes their integrated control through that same coordination." (ibid; emphasis his). In other words, Bratton is attempting to define platforms as a system, which might be dispersed and spread over several places, having numerous entry points ("interfaces") for users, while both maintaining the control and capital, a concept that will be very useful to tackle Steam's platformisation strategy; Steam itself has developed various access points via the distribution of its API, as we will see in the analytical chapter.

As hinted in the introduction, there is a whole discussion regarding the usability of the term 'platform'. Some scholars, as Nick Montfort and Ian Bogost, appeal to the technical and computational aspect of the term, while others, as Tarleton Gillespie or Nick Srnicek, address the term from a more metaphorical and "Web 2.0" aspect (Bogost and Montfort 3). As made clear, my stance on the matter is closer to the latter interpretation. In other words, as Gillespie admits, modern platforms are digital infrastructures, upon which applications can be built and run (Gillespie "The Politics of Platforms" 346-347) but that can also afford specific social exchanges to take place, such as "an opportunity to communicate, interact or sell" (347). Certainly, these two interpretations may hold differences but there is an underlying unifying point in my opinion: they are inviting us to stop thinking of platforms only in regard to their context, or in regard to their users' perception, and start taking into consideration the *platforms' own affordances and procedures*.

This idea also goes in line with Curinga's impression of studying "software and ideology" through both the "linguistic and technical" lenses of software (Curinga 5). Gillespie's impression that platforms embody particular agendas or politics, which "[move] beyond [their] computational meaning" (Helmond 2), does not necessarily contradict what Bogost and Montfort are arguing about the technical-material aspect of platforms. On the contrary, their focus lies on moving a step backward and redefining what a platform's core is; see past the tip of the iceberg and try to 'break-down' the black-boxes that they have become. Moreover, this kind of opinion has gained traction within academic circles during the last few years, and increasingly more scholars call for a shift in our way of thinking the platforms, so as to unveil what is beneath their interfaces (Langlois & Elmer 14; Bucher 105); to this end, affordances prove to be quite fruitful in divulging platforms' goals and dormant procedures.

Having briefly situated the discussion around platforms, I reckon that I should clarify here the way, in which I will be talking about platforms in my thesis. Specifically, I will be borrowing the interpretation of the term, as made by scholars who have occupied themselves with the concepts of platforms and platformisation, like José van Dijck's definition: "[a platform is] an online site that deploys automated technologies and business models to organise data streams, economic interactions, and social exchanges between users of the Internet" (van Dijck "The Platform Society"). As can be inferred, a critical notion to platforms is their capacity to situate themselves as an intermediary, bridging two or more parties (Srnicek; Gillespie; Helmond), figuratively proving, thus, that they are 'indeed' an in-between place that promotes and *facilitates* expression (Gillespie "The Politics of Platforms" 352). However, we should be careful of the word 'facilitate' because as van Dijck points out: "platforms are not simple facilitators" (van Dijck "The Platform Society"). Having all of the above traits in mind, we can begin to consider *Steam* as such a platform, which has succeeded in enabling these kinds of socioeconomic transactions, applications' development, data's accumulation and analysis by situating itself between players (users) and video-games (publishers/developers).

2.1.2. Platformisation's Discourse

"Some platforms try to 'lock-in' apps and users by making their features and services incompatible with their competitors', others opt for ubiquitous presence (emphasis mine) of all features on all platforms, while complementary apps try to bridge the gap." (van Dijck "The Culture of Connectivity" 156).

This essentially describes every social media platform, which makes use of features that amass traffic to their site, even if a user does not visit it directly (e.g. clicking *Facebook*'s "Like" on another platform/website); thus, additionally, generating "network effects," (Srnicek; Hagiu et al.; Choudary et al.) which means that "the more numerous the users who use a platform, the more valuable the platform becomes for everyone else" (Srnicek 45) simultaneously augmenting the platform's social value (Choudary et al. 34).

Throughout my research, I have been talking about 'platformisation', a term which is also under debate; the concept of the platformisation strategy, being the underpinning of my research's argument, requires a brief explanation in order to contextualise the discussion. In my research's interpretation, it involves a certain socio-technical infrastructure and has as its ultimate goal the commodification of information. Anne Helmond was the first to use the term of platformisation in the manner that is being employed in this thesis, as well as, in the current scholarly discourse surrounding digital platforms. She talked about how "platformization entails the **extension** of social media platforms into the rest of the web and their drive to make external web data '**platform ready**'" (Helmond 1). From her definition, we can distil two key notions,

extension" and "platform ready," which are also not far from what Bratton was claiming, as shown earlier. These notions practically frame what platformisation has come to mean in this context: *ubiquity* and *standardisation*.

We discussed earlier how platforms allow for socioeconomic exchanges to take place on them; in the same manner, van Dijck, by taking a step forward Helmond's definition, talks about how: "a platform's business model and governance defines the way in which datafied information is transformed into (social, economic) value" (van Dijck "The Platform Society"). Thus, we can discern the crucial role which sociality plays in commodifying data gathered by platforms from these kinds of exchanges. This is also in line with Bucher's voice on the matter of SNSs, a crucial concept to the platformisation strategy, in that they enable the

"(i) construction of a public or semi-public profile within a bounded system; (ii) the articulation of a list of other users with whom they share a connection; (iii) the possibility to view and traverse their list of connections and those made by others within the system [...] and [make] possible the production of user-generated content" (Bucher 13-14).

Lastly, the above characteristics, which can also be found on *Steam*, lead me to the second expounding point, which draws a certain line from the seer computational aspect of platforms that Nick Montfort and Ian Bogost propose, that is: I will be employing the terms 'platformisation' and 'platformisation strategy' to refer to practices and procedures that are being followed and executed by *Steam* in order to corroborate its presence within and across the video-game (and lately software in general³) industry. Therefore, I will not be talking about 'platform strategy' to avoid any confusion with other concepts, such as the economic approach to platform strategy which discusses how companies should make their technology open to "complementors

³ <u>https://www.pcgamer.com/steam-offering-non-game-software/.</u>

and create economic incentives for other firms to join the same 'ecosystem'" (Cusumano 33). What is more, I feel that 'platform strategy' lacks a certain element that 'platformisation' contains: *mutability*. In other words, the platformisation strategy encapsulates all of those steps and procedures that permit a platform to be **flexible**, **adaptive**, and **ubiquitous**.

2.2.Procedural Rhetoric

Procedural rhetoric was introduced as a novel way of examining video-games; it proposes to look at the processes which constitute a game, "rule-based representations and interactions" (Bogost 1), instead of sole "spoken word, writing, imagery or moving pictures" (ibid). The "procedurality," which refers to ways of understanding, explaining or even creating processes (ibid 2-3), thus, can be implicitly connected to the affordances of a medium, which in turn may favour some actions over others (Curinga 3). By drawing from other forms of rhetoric, like verbal or written, Bogost claims that procedural rhetoric can not only be perceived as a means of developing arguments through procedures and processes but, also, deducing them. In other words, as he put it: "Procedural rhetoric is a technique for making arguments with computational systems and for unpacking computational arguments others have created" (Bogost 2).

What intrigues me in this concept is how procedures are perceived as expressions; in this light, they overcome their unilateral computational nature and transform into vital components of a system and, equally importantly, highlight the role of (en)actors. This is the reason why I reckon that procedural rhetoric can be revealing in my thesis' project; because it helps shed a light on the way that *Steam*'s designers and programmers practically envisioned the ideal users' behaviour and reaction to their platform's features. Certainly, this does not mean that procedures enforce any type of behaviour but, rather, encourage or discourage: dana boyd also attests to that by arguing that "affordances [...] configure the environment in a way that shapes participants' engagement" (boyd

39). Moreover, this seems to be very close to Esther Weltevrede's interpretation of the relation between digital media's interfaces and their users, when she claims that if we zoom in on media's affordances, we could perhaps outline how users are "imagined and prescribed into the interface" (Weltevrede 14).

What is more, I believe that there is an intriguing connection between the concept of platforms and procedural rhetoric. Gillespie attempts to interpret older and more narrowed connotations of platforms, in a modern digital way; hence, apart from their innovative computational aspect, he claims that platforms also embody: "politics," giving users a step to voice their opinions, "metaphors," figuratively producing premises that obscure their original goals, and "architecture," meaning that the way they have been built and developed is innately connected to what they afford and foster to exist upon them (Gillespie "The Politics of Platforms" 352). Likewise, procedural rhetoric suggests that the way, in which video-games are designed, constructs and distributes messages (Bogost 2). Consequently, it could be argued that the way, in which *Steam* has developed its features, affords certain messages to be generated, as we will see in some of the examples examined in the analytical chapter.

In addition, I feel that the concept behind the relation between affordances and a contingent users' path is quite an interesting way of studying platforms. Especially in the case of *Steam*, where there exist several constructed layers of user-interaction and metagame, I propose that procedural rhetoric not only elucidates how *Steam* users are guided in performing certain social interactions but, also, how by doing so, they trigger the activation of an intrinsic socioeconomic ecosystem. For instance, a user is nudged to play a specific video-game to acquire STCs in order to craft a *Steam* Badge, which results in levelling up the *Steam* account and rewarding him/her with out-of-game commodities, such as "profile showcases" (e.g. featured screenshots of a game) or "extra

friends list slots"⁴. Therefore, by looking at such examples through the prism of the procedural rhetoric concept, we can deduce that the processes developed by *Steam* have a persuasive rhetoric transcribed into them, which surfaces the platform's desired outcome.

Finally, Although Bogost proposed this concept as a new way of researching video-games, I strongly believe that it could be further extended to the scrutiny of software and applications at large. Even he himself, considers procedural rhetoric as "a domain much broader than that of videogames, encompassing any medium [...] that accomplishes its inscription via processes" (Bogost 46); hence, I find this to be of further validation of my reasoning to apply the concept of procedural rhetoric to an indirect (i.e. you can do a myriad of other things on top of solely playing) video-game software as is *Steam*. Specifically, this helps in informing both my methodological approach, in that it further polishes the enquiry of affordances and my theoretical understanding of meta-game elements, which is also one of the four cornerstone pillars of my analysis' structure.

3. Methodology

3.1. Affordances

In order to answer the leading research question, an affordance analysis of three *Steam*'s features was selected as the fitting methodological approach. My approach draws mainly from Matthew Curinga's paper on "[analysing] interactive media with software affordances," in which he reckons that affordances "offer a useful lens for considering the social and political implications of interactive software" (Curinga 1). Perhaps the most elucidating aspect of Curinga's approach is the "interpretist" (ibid 4) perspective that an affordance-informed analysis allows for; this concept will be further unpacked later in this chapter. In any case, Curinga's contribution to my thesis cannot be stressed enough: he has basically provided me, on the one hand, with the

⁴ <u>https://steamcommunity.com/tradingcards</u>.

necessary vernacular to engage with the topic of enquiring *Steam* and, on the other hand, he has guided my analytical interpretation of *Steam*'s affordances.

The concept of affordances was first met in the field of psychology and ecology in 1979, by James Gibson, to define the contingent actions that an animal could perform in its physical environment (Curinga 6; Helmond and Bucher 4;). Gibson himself describes the affordances as "that what it offers the animal, what it provides or furnishes, either for good or ill" (Bucher 56), and as a concept, which is to be understood primarily as relational: "something that refers to both the environment and the animal in a way that no existing term does" (ibid 119). Later in 1990, Donald Norman, built upon the conceptual framework of Gibsonian affordances to develop his own interpretation in the context of studying human-computer interaction (HCI).

Norman, specifically, focused on the notion of affordances' perception and thought of them as design elements, which are perceived by the user and enable an action (Bucher and Helmond 9). This recontextualisation of the concept brought new ways of engaging with HCI, because a certain "semiotic system of communication between the designer and the user" (Curinga 6) became visible, aiming to stimulate and guide user behaviour. Under this light, it would be safe to assume "that affordances also carry the ideological views of the system's designers" (Curinga 7). Without getting deeply involved into the debate of social constructivism and technological determinism concerning technology's agency, I believe that affordances also help to alleviate this matter, in that they provide "a middle term that both takes into account the ways in which technologies are socially constructed and situated [...] and materially constraining and enabling on the other hand" (Bucher and Helmond 10).

Having briefly introduced the historical and evolutional trajectory of the affordances' concept, I reckon that it would be beneficial to connect it with this thesis' goal. As discussed in

the Theoretical Framework chapter, the concept of procedural rhetoric (Bogost) was proposed as a novel way of analysing games and, especially, their procedures, which in turn were interpreted as rhetoric vehicles that enable the construction and distribution of messages (ibid 2). In my opinion, this impression ties in greatly both with Curinga's take on analysing software because both of them respect the software's agency in direct correlation with its user's agency: on the one part, Bogost claims that the interactivity occurring between players and video-games provides the stage for both of them to exercise their agency insofar as one's allowed or prohibited by the system's procedures to perform certain actions (Bogost 45) and, on the other part, Curinga asserts that affordances "describe the relation between the user and the system" (Curinga 7) to the extent that such a relationship is reciprocal rather than unilateral.

Therefore, I aim to proceed with an affordance analysis, informed by Curinga's "interpretist" approach and Bogost's "procedural rhetoric" concept. Moreover, though Bogost's concept comes from game-studies, I reckon that it becomes truly useful when considered in the context of *Steam*, a gamified social entertainment platform, as I will try to demonstrate in the analytical chapter, where I will be searching for meta-game elements embedded in the platform of *Steam*, along with its features. As mentioned in the introduction, *Steam* has been gradually transforming into a complex meta-game by adopting meta-game elements; a telling example is *Steam*'s Achievement System. Moreover, I believe that such an analytical approach will also help me in divulging the way that meta-game layers of user interaction are constructed on *Steam* (i.e. how *Steam*, with video-games at its heart, wants its users to be social but, also, how sociality is framed by the platform itself).

Curinga also claims that technology has to be interpreted by its users "to have any meaning" (Curinga 4); this "interpretist" (ibid) approach resembles that of Bucher and Helmond

referenced earlier in that both of them acknowledge the inherent dormant meaning existing in software – which is built by designers with various ideological/political/social characteristics – as well as the users' (again with various characteristics) role in activating the meaning-making process (Curinga 7; Bucher and Helmond 31). We could infer, therefore, that the designed software and features highlight some actions over others (or even obscure others), on the one hand, and, on the other hand, that users are invited to make meaning out of these design decisions. In other words, affordances could be studied as textual or even rhetorical vehicles, awaiting the users' input to activate their envisioned path to interpretation and meaning-making process, similar to how video-games require "user action to complete their procedural representations" (Bogost 45).

Of course, this does not mean that this envisioned path is absolute and definite but, rather, predesigned to privilege certain courses of actions that cause the users' activation of a platform's constellation of activities. Put it simply, as platforms tend to create and invite users into their constellations of activities, what enables such phenomena are their features' affordances, which, at the same time, emphasise certain actions that are being encouraged by the platform itself (Curinga 3). For instance, when a user presses a button on a platform or is nudged to do so by the interface's specificities, a series of other next potential steps are being enabled (e.g. *Steam*'s popup display when a friend joins a game; see Figure 5). Finally, Curinga also claims that, when we study affordances, we study established, as well as, potential relations; hence, it makes sense to proceed with an affordance analysis as "a robust framework for understanding the capabilities of software" (Curinga 6). It is, fundamentally, a way of bridging the gap between implying that everything is interpreted and that technology authors everything.

Furthermore, he suggests five interrelated components that affordance theory is able to take into consideration, thus rendering it an even more suitable method to investigate software (ibid):

- 1. "user goals and capacities
- 2. designer/system goals
- 3. design features
- 4. user perception and understanding
- 5. system potentials, whether actualized or not"

Following suit, I plan to track and trace *Steam*'s designed affordances, which exist embedded in the three features under enquiry, to make meaning of its platformisation strategy. The way that I have decided to operationalise the aforesaid analysis is by delving into prime examples that demarcate how the three features interrelated in order to constitute *Steam*'s platformisation strategy. For instance, when a user customises his/her profile with rewards unlocked by

	STEAM' STORE COMMUNITY DOMX ABOUT	SUPPORT	
1. Consider the second seco	Purple Buying TF2/PUBG/H What is life friends (?) Plaster Rock, New B You keem more from mistakes their anything	121 - Level 85 nurswick, Canada else V Ring Of Free	
	At Hey I Helgs, I Love You Ver Vo	Add Friend More +	
A management of the second sec	Hello. Try To Read - The Rules Are in the Bottom	Currently Online	
	in you need to serily the an steam Une https://steamcommunity.com/tradeoffer/new/?partner=292940013&token f	Currently on trade probation*	
	If he say you this or something like that YOU CAN SEE TOO. THE BUTTON TO ADD ME IF YOU CAN ADD ME YO NOW THAT I AM NOT THAT PERSON	u WILL REALIZE	List And Table
	YOU CAN SEE BELOW WHO AM I - If you have any suspicion you can se should be the same as the profile on where you are in the same as the profile on where you are in the same as the profile on where you are interval.	re the NULIBERS below	
	_steam1032; STEAM_0-1:1/46470006. _steam1064; http://steamcommunity.com/profiles/76561198253205741_ _steamrep: http://steamrep.com/profiles/76561198253206741_	Screenshots 131 Videos 1	
	Kules: Jon't give rep If I don't deal anything with you Jon't lend or gift any of my items i like and buy them To use. Jonet lend or gift any of my items usede	Reviews 1 Artwork 40	
	 Don't give tags to itele this is in youth. Don't be rude with me if I don't do that with you Have Many People in my friend list which I don't know because day So Be Careful 	I trade alot every Groups 17	
State State	BADDY	We Love Animes 16,871 Members	

Figure 3. A Steam User's Profile Dedicated to Trading with Customised Features

collecting Steam Trading Cards to resemble an e-shop dedicated to Steam Community Market (Figure 3⁵), it is as much a matter of interpretation by the user's part as it is a matter of allowing (and perhaps encouraging to an extent) such an interpretation.

3.2. Limitations

An affordance analysis has definitely some restrictions that should be pointed out. As mentioned above, when studying affordances, we study "potentials, whether actualized or not" (Curinga 6). What this means, is that the researcher interprets, and makes substantiated claims about the relations between software and user. In other words, there is not something 'objectively' truth or false to examine but, rather, make valid and justified arguments about designed and perceived features. In any case, I believe that affordance analysis is most suitable to proceed with tracing such dynamics, especially in comparison to other traditional research methods. Lev Manovich also agrees that "if we are to focus on software itself, we need new methodologies" (15). Although Manovich and similar figures (see Bogost and Montfort), talk explicitly about scholars who have a deep understanding and knowledge of the software in and of itself, that is, also having the ability to code or at least decipher it, I believe that they do make a valid point by raising the matter of "repurposing digital methods" (Weltevrede). And, lastly, I feel that affordance analysis paves the way for "repurposing" them because it accentuates the flexibility and adaptivity that new digital methods should have since the enquired artefacts are also everchanging and ever-moving.

⁵ Note that on the right side of the screenshot there is an indicator saying "Currently on trade prohibition." This is probably due to violation of rules by the user. For a thorough story on *Steam*'s Trading World see: https://www.polygon.com/features/2014/5/22/5590070/*Steam*-valve-item-trading.

A second limitation that we should bear in mind, when proceeding with affordance analysis, is its detachment from the users' opinion and feelings. Amongst other purposes of qualitative research methods in media studies was to discover how did particular phenomena make people feel, or discover the motives behind certain decisions, often times by interviewing them and letting them speak. Bucher, on the other hand, suggests to "[let] the software 'speak'" ("Programmed Sociality" 74). Whilst not defending either in this potential debate, I think it is a question of what a researcher seeks to enquire; people's voices can be illuminating when dealing with multifaceted communication phenomena but can contribute little to developing a conceptual framework. In that way, theory and methodology are bleeding into one another, perhaps more than was the case with traditional research methods, like semi-structured interviews or ethnographic approaches.

3.3. Corpus

Although I could have focused on several small *Steam*'s features, I chose to specifically delve into three that, in my opinion, are not only unique, in that they cannot be found in other similar video-game distribution platforms (e.g. EA's *Origin*, *GalaxyOfGames* etc.) but, also, are part of a multifaceted and complex system; the inherent multidimensionality of these features' affordances (Evans et al. 37) and multifaceted interconnection provides unrivalled research opportunities. What is more, I believe that by selecting these three features, I would be doing justice to both my thesis' micro- perspective approach and my project's feasibility.

3.3.1. Steam Community Market (SCM)

Steam's Community Market provides the necessary space for users to sell, buy, or trade in-game or out-of-game commodities; these socioeconomic transactions are operated using *Steam* Wallet Funds, a platform-bound currency, while *Steam* gets a percentage of each deal. Tony Paloma, a

head engineer of Valve, stated that with SCM, *Steam* is "extending game economies beyond trades and giving players a way to turn gameplay into funds for new items and games" (Corriea).

3.3.2. Steam Trading Cards (STC)

Steam Trading Cards are virtual cards earned by playing eligible games on *Steam*. Once a user has acquired the appropriate number of cards, he/she can turn them into game badges and other tradable *Steam* items. In order for players to acquire the STCs is through gameplay, though up to a certain point; the remaining necessary cards have to be earned through one's "*collecting prowess* (emphasis mine)," as we read on *Steam*'s website⁶. The badges crafted by completing a set of cards can reward the users with "marketable items like emoticons, profile backgrounds, and coupons," as well as with experience points, that level-up one's profile and offer users with non-marketable items, such as "profile showcases, extra friends list slots, and more."

3.3.3. Steam Application Programming Interface (API)

Steam's API has two distinct categories: on the one hand, there is the *Steam Web API* and, on the other hand, the *Steam SDK API* (also known as "Steamworks API"). The former enables websites and other platforms, to track, display, and verify a *Steam* user's statistics, or even authorise an in-game purchase. The latter, essentially, invites programmers and developers to build their 'own' applications, which can then be implemented in their video-games to make use of *Steam*'s unique features, such as *Steam Overlay, Steam Achievements, Steam Scoreboard*, and so forth. Furthermore, as *Steam* states, "integration with the Steamworks API is never

⁶ <u>https://steamcommunity.com/tradingcards</u>.

required" albeit "it is highly recommended as it allows you to accomplish many interactions that *Steam* users *expect* (emphasis mine; "Steamworks API Overview").

As a means of conclusion, I would like to explicitly discuss the approach that I have undertaken with my thesis. I believe that affordance analysis does "facilitate theory building [...] at multiple levels of analysis," (Evans et al. 36) letting us hypothesise and theorise by building upon the methodological framework. I am not attempting to prove something true or false, as a social researcher might do. On the contrary, I am following the humanitarian tradition of arguing on existing theories and methodologies. It is important to realise that the affordance analysis is based on my own interpretations, guided by previous scholarly and academic efforts on the field, hence the danger of being biased always lurks, something that cannot be really shaken off but, which can be eschewed if perceived and admitted early.

4. Analysis

In the following chapter, I will present my analysis' findings structured according to four patterns: (i) '**ubiquitous presence**', (ii) '**social media affordances**', (iii) '**meta-game elements**' and (iv) '**feedback-loops**'. The **first** one derives from José van Dijck's idea of platformisation, as explicated in the "Platformisation's Discourse" chapter (2.1.2) and demonstrates how *Steam* is aiming for omnipresence through the use of the three interrelated features. The **second** one is connected to the Social Networking Site aspect of *Steam*, a characteristic which, as discussed earlier, is inherently intertwined with digital platforms. The **third** one depicts a core mechanism of *Steam* – and platforms at large -; it is important to note here that the feedback-loop expounded in this thesis is but a fraction of a larger feedback system, which runs through the whole platform. Finally, the **fourth** pattern relates to how *Steam* in and of itself is progressively

becoming a vast and multi-layered meta-game, which makes use of all of the above traits in order to nudge people into remaining on the platform.

I believe that these four patterns reflect both my theoretical and methodological framework because they answer to, on the one hand, platformisation's characteristics along with the meta-level of user interaction that takes place on *Steam* and, on the other hand, Curinga's quasi-textual affordance analysis of software. Furthermore, these four patterns will elucidate the leading research question of my thesis concerning the constitution of *Steam*'s platformisation strategy. Each of them will be presented accompanied by a set of examples stemming from my case so as better ground my findings. Lastly, it should be mentioned here that I have chosen these patterns over discussing each feature separately due to their level of intricacy and interconnection; it is important to keep in mind that we are dealing with features which function together to compose a larger system and strategy, hence making it all the more sensible to study them as such.

'Ubiquitous Presence' Pattern

As discussed in the theoretical chapter, platformisation has become a kind of synonym of the *ubiquity* and *standardisation* dipole regarding digital platforms. Perhaps the most renowned example of this phenomenon is the "Like" button of *Facebook*, which van Dijck believes that "epitomizes the profound modification of a social norm" ("The Culture of Connectivity" 49). Therefore, users can come across a certain platform's features on various other platforms and sites, as the 'original' platform keeps on expanding and the other platforms/sites continue to adopt such developments. The reason is simple: it is beneficial for both parties because it boosts user traffic and potential engagement (ibid 156). Furthermore, the "Like" button reveals to us another paramount capacity of platforms: provision of several entry points. So, users can enter

Facebook's ecosystem – even unbeknownst to them – just by clicking "Like" on a location outside of *Facebook* due to its ability to be easily applicable to other platforms/websites.

Following suit, *Steam* has been gradually attempting to develop a similar platform ecosystem within which: on the one side, users are consistently nudged to participate in various socioeconomic activities and, on the other side, video-game stakeholders (i.e. publishers, developers etc.) are prompted to release their content on the platform. Thus, in this pattern I accentuate how *Steam* aims to consolidate its ubiquitous presence via providing various entry points that may even transcend the direct platform's outreach, while expanding its constellation of activities, hence creating an ecosystem. The ubiquity of *Steam* can be made apparent when studying the enlightening example of *Warframe* (Digital Extremes), a free-to-play cooperative third-person shooter; I chose this game because, firstly, it is not owned by Valve and, secondly, its use of the three *Steam* features is almost vital to its existence. *Warframe* was released in 2013, the same year when STCs were released, and very close to the introduction of the two other features (i.e. SCM, API) as well.

Although it is free-to-play, there are plenty methods of monetisation, several of which make use of *Steam*'s features, even though one can actually run and play the game without owning the *Steam* client. However, players who do log on to *Warframe* via *Steam* get several advantages, including access to additional SCM and *Steam* Workshop items. *Warframe* quickly adopted the STCs system ("*Steam* Trading Cards"), thus allowing players to 'farm' cards and badges by playing the game. However, since it is a free-to-play game, users have to spend actual money to collect certain cards (approximately \$9 for one card drop⁷); as with every card game, there is two kinds of rarity: common and foil. The required number of cards to craft a badge in

⁷ <u>http://Steamtradingcards.wikia.com/wiki/Warframe</u>.

Warframe is eight, and with each badge, a random "Emotion" or "Profile Background" (ibid) is rewarded to the users.

In addition, during special periods, such as the annual *Steam* Holiday Sales, the rewards are being enriched and even more special and rarer prizes are offered to STCs collectors. For instance, the most expensive item currently on sale on the *Warframe* section of SCM, starting at €186,89, is the "Phased Tigris Skin," which was a reward for crafting the *Steam* Holiday Sale 2013 badge⁸. Moreover, *Warframe* has also adopted the Steam Economy feature ⁹, which falls under the umbrella of *Steam* API, and which essentially enables users to directly pay for in-game commodities, like bonus packs or in-game money, using Steam Wallet Funds.

By exploring this example through the lens of an affordance analysis, we can begin to lucidly discern the characteristics' affordances that foster *Steam*'s ubiquitous presence and, consequently, its platformisation strategy. So, when *Steam* offers the opportunity for users to collect, buy or sell cards and in-game commodities under the premise of showing-off or becoming more powerful in *Warframe*, we can distinguish the affordances of the designed features. In this context, *Steam* creates the conditions for developers of free-to-play video-games to easily monetise their releases, while nudging players into participating in social transactions (e.g. trading a missing card with a friend). Moreover, players who are able and willing to pay more for those cards are favoured over others, while *Steam* successfully usurps a cut for each and every one of these transactions.

⁸ <u>https://Steamcommunity.com/market/listings/230410/Phased%20Tigris%20Skin</u>.

⁹ For the full documentation of "Steam Economy" please refer to: <u>https://partner.Steamgames.com/doc/features/inventory/economy</u>.

In other words, *Steam*, by offering its features as potential video-games integrations (i.e. with the use of the *Steam* API), it designs a latent activation of other interrelated features that exist on the platform itself. This contingent path requires both users, as well as, video-game developers to reify. Thus, video-games, in this light, become a sort of continuation of the platform's assemblage, that is "heterogenous components that resonate through their causal relations" (Hopkins 2). Therefore, *Steam* focuses on producing network and lock-in effects, which, in turn, increase the possibilities of the activation of the aforesaid features; this is where affordances become of vital importance. *Steam* might have designed the three features to interconnect, but they remain inactive without user input; though, their affordances gradually guide users into activating them. Subsequently, when *Warframe* implements the STCs system, it also adopts its socioeconomic traits which permit a user to take advantage of *Steam* to become more powerful in-game or, even, make money. It does not matter in this case if users' and designers' perceptions coincide, as the ultimate goal of commodification and, consequently, of platformisation is being met.

Finally, by going back to what Bratton said about platforms having various entry points (Bratton 42) and tying it with the Steam Economy feature, we can clearly see here the manifestation of a pervasive and omnipresent strategy that *Steam* has assumed. Its platform-bound currency traverses and becomes a 'facilitator' for transactions that are ostensibly outside of the platform but, in reality, appertain to its **expanding ecosystem**. Hence, the potential of *Steam*, cannot be contained solely to its platform but travels beyond that and engulf as many objects as possible. In this case, users might perceive the use of Steam Wallet Funds as an easy way of purchasing in-game commodities for *Warframe* on the game's website via the Steam

Economy feature¹⁰ but, in fact, they assist in consolidating a parallel economy, where the 'virtual' *Steam* currency translates into real. This occurs by enabling such transactions to take place out of the direct context of *Steam*, while transgressing the game's boundaries by permitting the purchase of virtual in-game goods with a virtual platform currency.

'Social Media Affordances' Pattern

Throughout this thesis, I have attempted to highlight, along with the help of prevalent scholars, the importance that sociality and social affordances have to digital platforms. As Gillespie and van Dijck admit, these platforms do not only provide digital infrastructures but, also, afford specific social exchanges to take place, while enabling the development and employment of applications on them (Gillespie 346-347; van Dijck "The Platform Society"). This is actualised when such platforms situate themselves between two or more parties in order to bridge and serve them, as they claim, while regulating the conditions of this connection (ibid; Srnicek). As a result, they are not by any means neutral, and are responsible for their content, as Mark Zuckerberg also attested in front of the Senate on the 4th of April 2018¹¹. This should not be mistaken as dictating behaviour though; dana boyd put it eloquently: "networked publics' affordances [...] configure the environment in a way that shapes participants' engagement" (boyd 39).

Steam itself boasts that it is a "social entertainment platform" ("About Steam"), and not a simple digital retailer or distributor of video-games. This 'rebranding' indicates the shift in the platform's ideology and practices (i.e. bridging and serving users and developers/publishers

¹⁰ <u>https://www.warframe.com/buyplatinum.</u>

¹¹ <u>https://www.businessinsider.nl/mark-zuckerberg-Facebook-is-responsible-for-the-content-on-</u> its-platform-2018-4/?international=true&r=US.

while setting the rules and conditions of the connection) which in my opinion is best illustrated by the social-rich features that exist within *Steam*, along with the three features investigated here. It is interesting to even carefully look at their names: *Steam Community Market*, with **Community** being they key-word here, *Steam Trading Cards*, with **Trading** describing a social exchange that takes place with two or more people, and *Steam Application Programming Interface*, which itself affords the building and running of applications on the platform even **by its own users**¹². In this pattern, I am going to provide a couple of illustrative examples of the capacities afforded by the platform's features which comprise the platform's quasi-social media profile.

One of the most intriguing and intrinsic features of *Steam* is its achievement system; not only are users rewarded for performing certain in-game actions, but they are also rewarded for performing actions on the platform itself, similar to how other SNSs have adopted the model of gamified online social interactions, like *Foursquare* (Foxman). A prevalent example of that is the badge called "Pillar of Community," which requires users to accomplish certain "*Steam* Community" activities, like uploading a screenshot or a video, or posting a video-game review (see Figure 4), ergo being socially active on *Steam*. This idea goes in tandem with assuming a variety of roles from the users' part as well: from *Steam* Curators and Reviewers to Content Creators and Group Moderators, *Steam* manages to offer a mixture of roles awaiting to be

¹² A famous example of that, is <u>SteamSpy</u>, a third-party app which makes use of Steam's Web API to gather and analyse data regarding various aspects of video-games released on Steam, such as gameplay time, active users, owners' number, sales etc. It is currently threatened to be shut down due to changes on Steam's privacy settings (for more info on that: <u>https://www.gamesindustry.biz/articles/2018-</u> 04-12-Steamspy-creator-warns-pc-market-is-once-again-open-to-abuse).

assumed by its users, in the same fashion that other SNSs have been doing as well¹³. For each and every action completed, a user receives experience points, which are then used to level-up the badge, which can then be publicly displayed on one's profile.

What we can discern from this example by proceeding with an affordance analysis, is the ambition of the platform to make its users **as socially active as possible**. *Steam* nudges its users into becoming more social, because the more social exchanges take place the more possible it is to generate network effects (Choudary et al. 34), which will prompt more users into participating in these events. So, in order to craft the "Community Pillar" badge, one has to have made a trade with a friend or to have posted a status to his/her friends, which requires a friend list; for a *Steam* user to have a friend, he/she has to have spent at least \$5¹⁴ in order to have a verified account. As Bucher asserts, the ability to have a public profile, along with the capacity to have friends and share content with them, is fundamental to SNSs (Bucher "Networked Sociality" 13-14).

¹³ While top-of-mind examples mainly stem from *Facebook*, an earlier and utterly captivating case is *Wikipedia*, where the first contributors were mostly amateur editors without many restrictions in juxtaposition to its current (to an extent) hierarchical structure (cf. Niederer and van Dijck "The Wisdom of the Crowd"; van Dijck "Wikipedia and the Neutrality Principle").

¹⁴ <u>https://www.eurogamer.net/articles/2015-04-20-you-now-have-to-spend-at-least-usd5-to-access-some-steam-features/</u>.

With that in mind, it is safe to assume that *Steam* pushes its users to have friends and complete certain tasks with their (in)direct help. At the same time, by being able to see when and what your friends are playing – similar to *Facebook*'s "Discover New Games" sidebar – is, by and of itself, a nudge towards playing that game as well (see Figure 5); that said, it could be argued that the social media characteristics of *Steam* also foster the conditions for virality¹⁵ effects to occur (e.g. old games attracting high rates of gameplay hours out of the blue¹⁶). Additionally, what *Steam* affords by adopting SNSs traits is creating niche and 'private'

Pillar of Community							
	Pillar of Community 100 XP Unlocked 15 Dec, 2017 @ 11:42am						
16 of 28	tasks completed. Complete 5 more Stea		unity tasks to earn the Level 2 badge.				
1	Enable Steam Guard on your Steam account	٥	Add a phone number to your account.		Use the Steam Mobile App for two- factor authentication		
LIVE		-		ta			
*		1					
1							
±	Subscribe to an item in the Steam Workshop				Set an avatar on your Community profile		
R	Set your real name on your Community profile	(n)		*			
6							
1050	Comment on a friend's screenshot	(6)-	Craft a game badge		Feature a badge on your profile		

Figure 4. "Pillar of Community" Steam Badge

communities on its platform. In the same fashion that *Facebook* users can create private groups, *Steam* affords the creation of Steam Community Groups, where users can converge and discuss, share ideas or content, buy, sell or trade, and so on.

Those groups are either private or public, have moderation, and are limited to verified *Steam* accounts; all of these attributes resemble virtual communities that exist on the vast majority, if not all, of social media platforms. Therefore, these smaller community hubs might

¹⁵ The term is used here as a way of denoting that something got suddenly very popular and got shared across and within several media and groups. For an in-depth take on the matter of the "viral metaphor" please refer to Jenkins, Henry, Ford, Sam, and Green, Joshua. *Spreadable Media: Creating Value and Meaning in a Networked Culture*. New York: NYU Press, 2013. Web. 17 Apr. 2018.

¹⁶ <u>https://Steamed.kotaku.com/the-Steam-players-dedicated-to-reviving-dead-multiplaye-</u> 1714999608.

help to build a stronger social cohesion, as participation might be higher in more dispersed "interlinked private" networks (Parks 109). And, as depicted previously, more participation means more users, which means stronger engagement and network effects for the platform. Last but not least, *Steam* API also plays a major role in fuelling up the SNSs elements that construct the social media pattern of *Steam*. One vital consequence of *Steam*'s API is its capacity to provide users with the tools to produce User Generated Content, another crucial characteristic of social media platforms.

Concluding, in the context of *Steam*, this consequence might take place either with the form of in-game commodities that can be circulated through the SCM (e.g. custom-made skins for video-games that can be approved by a game's developers and be introduced in the actual video-game) or with the form of third-party apps. For instance, *SteamTradeMatcher.com* is a third-party website which makes use of *Steam*'s API to track users' inventories and friends' list in order to find users that are willing to trade STCs with others. The latter is very interesting to investigate further because, essentially, *Steam* permits the existence of such applications, potentially, due to the positive effect that they have in regards to *Steam*'s expanding ecosystem.





Figure 5. Facebook's Sidebar & Steam's Pop-up Notification System

'Feedback Loops' Pattern

By and large, an innate component of the platformisation strategy, and social media platforms in general, is the *feedback loop*; a concept which is also fundamental to video-game design¹⁷. This practically points towards a "constant stream of self-reinforcing activity" (Choudary et al. 34); it is a rather simple concept to conceive but a much more perplexed to actualise and study, especially due to the existence of smaller interconnected loops within larger ones. By looking at an example provided by Choudary et al. regarding Uber's feedback loop scheme (Figure 6) we can get a glimpse of how the designers of such loops aim at maximising network effects: more geographic coverage leads to faster pickups, lower prices and less driver downtime, which leads to more demand for the platform, which gathers more drivers, leading once more to an ever-expanding geographic coverage of the platform. What this scheme manages to conceal, however, is how users are being guided into using the service more and more, and why drivers are converged on it. In this pattern, I will surface how *Steam* has developed its own perpetuating feedback loop by zeroing in on the three features enquired in this thesis.

An example quite similar to the one that I discussed in the first pattern is *Team Fortress* 2, a first-person shooter video-game developed by Valve. When examined through the lens of an affordance analysis one can encounter some quite fascinating points in regards to how the concept of feedback loop was originally established. Though *Team Fortress* 2 (*TF2*) (Valve 2007) existed prior to the paradigmatic shift that occurred within Valve and *Steam* around the first years of the 2010s, it was not until 2011 that it became a tremendous commercial success

¹⁷ For a thorough discussion on the matter, please refer to Miguel Sicart's "Loops and Metagames: Understanding Game Design Structures." Also, Mark Brown, a 'YouTuber', has created an interesting video-essay on <u>"How Games Use Feedback Loops."</u>

(Dyer) whereupon it became free-to-play and was enriched with in-app purchases and microtransactions. Furthermore, it was the first game, along with another Valve-owned game, *DOTA* 2, to implement the feature of STCs in 2013 ("Team Fortress 2"). Now, what makes *TF2* so interesting to investigate in this context is two-fold: (a) it existed prior to *Steam*'s changing point, and (b) it is Valve-developed and owned. Therefore, I am claiming that *Steam*, with *TF2*, set the standards for how games should be developed if they wanted to meet the same commercial success as Valve's video-game, and if they wanted to integrate those *Steam* unique features.



Figure 6. Uber's Feedback Loop Scheme (Choudary et al. 19)

When *Steam* decided to basically re-launch *TF2* as a free-to-play game, a specific and designated plan began to unfold. Generally, free-to-play video-games are based on the users' "virtual [goods] consumption" (Nieborg "Crushing Candy" 2); hence, video-game studios which opt for "freemium" business models, guide their users into turning from "players into payers" (ibid), while extracting and analysing data in order to better optimise the conditions necessary for further monetisation. In Figure 7, I demonstrate how such a feedback loop takes form and shape

in the context of *Steam*, while in Figure 8 I suggest how a contingent user-path leads to another feedback loop itself in the same context. As hinted earlier, when TF2 was redistributed as free-to-play, its player base quadrupled in comparison to when it was paid to acquire (Dyer); that much can be attributed to the fact that when something is free, people are more likely to, at least, test it. Therefore, more people were attracted to it, which meant that, on the one hand, the revenue from the game copies' purchases was lost and had to be retrieved elsewhere and, on the other hand, that network effects were happening.

This is where *Steam* stepped in and provided the necessary features to make up for the lost purchase revenue stream, as well as, to take advantage of the commercial momentum. First, it enabled in-app purchases, a model widely adopted by many freemium games (Nieborg "Crushing Candy" 5); what was different for *Steam*, though, was that it connected the model with their own SCM, thus allowing exchanges and deals between individuals to happen, rather than only providing content in a top-down fashion. Additionally, the game's socioeconomic value was further enhanced with the introduction of the STCs by making the social value of the game even more effective. Eventually, this led to a deeper engagement from the users' side with the platform and its features in various ways, even by submitting user-generated content on the SCM. Thus, as shown in the feedback loop diagram below, *Steam* was able to take advantage of the engagement's by-products, with data being the most prominent one, in order to ameliorate its services. It still continues to do so by, for instance, customising one's front store page based on data traces (similar to how *Facebook*'s News Feed works) and, of course, personalising recommendations of new games via the *Steam* Discovery Queue.

While the example stemmed from a free-to-play video-game, I argue that these kinds of affordances can be traced in paid video-games as well. For instance, another Valve-owned game,

Counter-Strike GO (2012), has to be paid to be purchased yet it makes use of every *Steam* feature possible in the same manner as *TF2* does. And going beyond Valve's video-games, just by browsing the list of games that participate in the STCs system, which goes hand-in-hand with adopting, at the very least, the other two features as well, one can quickly realise the potential of *Steam*'s interlinked web of activities. The feedback loop instigated through the affordances of the three features chosen in this thesis is but a fraction of a nest of other feedback loops. This is how the platformisation strategy of *Steam* takes flesh and bones: **through an on-going mechanism which constantly extracts and analyses data in order to improve its own products** (e.g. Valve's video-games, *Steam* etc.) and, at the same time, **consolidate the framework and standards** under which other publishers and developers will decide to release their work on the platform of *Steam*.



Figure 7. Steam's Interconnected Feedback Loops



*F2P, and 'in-App Purchases' node is in parentheses because this user-path may also apply to non-F2P games. Figure 8. User's Contingent Path Feedback Loop.

'Meta-Game Elements' Pattern

In this pattern, I will focus my attention on the affordances that emerge from the interconnected use of the three features under exploration, which have cultivated a complex meta-game layer (Sicart) on *Steam*. My effort is primarily backed up by the game-analytical concept of procedural rhetoric (Bogost), as discussed in the theoretical framework chapter, which helps me in accentuating the role that the processes of these features have come to play, along with the

importance of their activators. Since, in this light, *Steam* is perceived as a meta-game, and we are searching for game-related affordances, procedural rhetoric seems befitting to inform my enquiry. Therefore, by zooming in on some specific examples we can deduce how the designed procedures perceive an ideal user path, what actions are favoured by the designer, and what are their affordances.

However, it should be clarified that Bogost admits that interactivity does not vouch for either meaningful expression or meaningful persuasion but allows for both of them to take shape and form (Bogost 45). This is because the ideal user, as imagined by a designer, and a user's perception of a software do not necessarily coincide; this is very close to Curinga's "interpretist" approach (Curinga 4). In other words, as with other forms of rhetoric, procedures' interpretation can vary depending on the user, the platform, their interconnection, and the context in which they are being triggered. In the case of *Steam*, the largest and most revealing manifestation of such a discourse is the achievements system, a concept discussed in the previous pattern as well. *Steam* rewards users for completing specific tasks, but not every user is aware of these achievements or how they can be unlocked. Thus, the procedural rhetoric of *Steam*'s features imperceptibly guides users into unlocking them by nudging them into participating; so, for instance, users are incentivised to unlock every badge because they want to show off their collection, or they actually learn about badges, previously unknown to them, by others' profiles.

An elucidating case of this idea comes once more from the "Community Pillar" badge. If you launch and play a video-game on *Steam*, you immediately unlock an achievement for that, as seen in Figure 4; it is fair to say that the vast majority of users who own *Steam*, do so in order to play video-games and that they are unaware of such achievements, at least during the first time they launch *Steam*'s client. However, the moment an amateur user plays a game on *Steam* for the

very first time, an "Achievement Unlocked" bubble pops-up at the bottom right of the screen, which if clicked redirects him/her to the "Community Pillar" badge where all of the other social activities await to be activated. As a matter of fact, it might not even be clicked; the mere fact that the nudge has appeared in such a way might leave the impression to the user that something more exists beyond the video-game itself. This could be perceived as a way of "constructing a message while designing [video-games]" (Bogost 2) and, in this case, the message is constructed in concert with designing achievements that afford contingent users' paths.

What this also affords is a certain play element, which could be compared to the concept of *agôn* as proposed by Caillois, to characterise the competitive nature of play (Frissen et al. 11). Though to exactly pinpoint and define the 'play' aspect of *Steam* itself might need another thesis on its own to consolidate, I do believe that there are ludic aspects to be traced here. Even by looking at the premise of STCs one can discern a certain nudging towards users to become competitive: expressions like "collecting prowess" or "show-off"¹⁸ subtly imply that there is not a single way of collecting those cards and that no user is identical to another. Consequently, this means that there might exist strategies that users have to come up with to become better collectors and, eventually, build a more compelling profile to demonstrate in comparison to others, which might also suggest a kind of competitiveness among users.

Furthermore, it is fascinating that these motley communities have converged on *Steam*, mostly due to the unifying factor of gaming, but have ended up building their own networks. I reckon that this is what Gillespie meant when he was saying that the "platform metaphor" obscures the fact that platforms are "populated by many *diverse*, sometimes overlapping, and sometimes *contentious* communities" (Gillespie "The Platform Metaphor"). This was also hinted

¹⁸ <u>https://Steamcommunity.com/tradingcards</u>.

in the "Social Media Affordances" pattern with the *Steam* Community Groups. However, it becomes even more revealing in the light of meta-game aspect because it emphasises how meta-game elements strengthen not only the gaming identity of *Steam* users but, also, the gaming nature of *Steam*'s features. The former occurs, at first, as users are drawn to the platform because they share the trait and desire of video-gaming and, the latter, because users can identify gaming characteristics on *Steam* itself, possibly due to their "cognitive capital" (Dyer-Witheford & de Peuter 35) (i.e. they are able to trace gaming elements, like "experience points," "badges," etc., because they have met them before in video-games).

As a result, the above signify the gamification of the platform, which could be boiled down to "the use of game design elements in non-game contexts" as defined by Deterding et al. (9); moreover, it is a concept highly connected to modern social media platforms (see Cliff Lampe's "Gamification and Social Media"). As implied earlier, the gamification is also given away by *Steam* itself due to the use of terms like "level-up," "badges," "XP points," "craft," and so on. Consequently, it makes a rather intriguing case to investigate *Steam* as a gamified platform, which has video-games as its cornerstone. That said, I claim that *Steam* has **progressively altered the essence of video-games as a medium**, in that the platform's features afford the video-games to be perceived by its users, as well as, by their developers as *vehicles* to participate in *Steam*'s growing ecosystem.

As with the case of *Warframe* or with the case of *Steam*'s achievements, video-games are seemingly always at the epicentre and are used to elicit platform-bound socioeconomic exchanges. Moreover, these transactions might sometimes have effects both on how people treat video-games, e.g. people playing over and over the same video-games in order to 'farm' STCs, and on the in-game economies, as with the case of the skin awarded at the *Steam* Summer Sales

of 2013 for *Warframe*. These instances crystallise Sicart's take on meta-game elements as being "external to the core interaction with the game that has nevertheless importance in the experience of the game" (2). With this in mind, it would not be a long shot to call *Steam* an inseparable component to the experience of playing a – steadily growing – number of video-games released on the platform.

5. Conclusion

One could argue that we live in the era of digital platforms: organisations, which by accumulating and analysing our data, aim at maximising not only their revenues but also their strategic vantage points in our 'datafied' society (van Dijck "The Platform Society"). What makes platforms so intriguing is that very often they tend to present themselves as "empty spaces for others to interact on, while in fact [embodying] a politics," (46-47) as Nick Srnicek notices in his book, *Platform Capitalism*. The academic community has been trying, during the past few years, to scrutinise the so-called 'platformisation' of several segments of our everyday lives, while trying to provide us with the necessary vernacular to engage with these new phenomena. This thesis has sought to address the matter and contribute to the on-going discussion concerning digital platforms and their socio-political implications, from a more micro-perspective, by homing in on Valve's *Steam*. To do so, I decided to delineate *Steam*'s platformisation strategy by proceeding with an affordance analysis on three specific features, Steam Trading Cards, Steam Community Market, and Steam API.

To answer this multi-layered task, I decided to proceed with an affordance analysis informed by Matthew Curinga's approach, in which he takes on affordances as quasi- textual elements that enable the meaning-making process (Curinga 4). However, whilst Curinga certainly was of tremendous help in formulating my research, it would be an oversight and a

fallacy to not underline the high degree of interplay between my methodology and theory. As discussed in the Theoretical Framework chapter, digital platforms and affordances are two concepts which are so intertwined, that, when examined together, the findings can be truly revealing. In my thesis, this became most clear in the Analysis chapter, where I constructed my findings according to four patterns, which emerged from platforms' and platformisation's characteristics, as shaped by prevalent scholars (van Dijck, Helmond, Bucher, Gillespie, and others). In other words, in the same fashion that affordance analysis "facilitate[s] theory building [...] at multiple levels of analysis" (Evans et al. 36), theory facilitates enquiring affordances.

Furthermore, through the affordance analysis I have come to the assertion that the interconnection of these three features, as shown with the example of the achievement system in the analytical chapter, has two direct results: on the one hand it establishes the gamification of *Steam*, a concept highly entangled with social media platforms and, on the other hand, the subtle alteration of the video-games' medium. To me, the latter is of utter importance because it surfaced an idea that was not at all conceived prior to writing this thesis and which has extensions to the field of game-studies as well: video-games are perceived by Steam as the cornerstone for its platformisation strategy because, essentially, they enable the activation of a constellation of interrelated activities and processes. Both with the case of *Warframe* (Digital Extremes) and with the case of achievements, video-games are the key to unlocking almost everything on Steam and are seen as a vehicle to carry the expanding ecosystem of the platform.

Most certainly, we have to always take into consideration that the findings of the affordance analysis result from my own interpretations, guided by well-established scholars but which, in any case, are affected by my own biases. As I said in the Limitations sub-chapter (3.2), the only way to confront such a predicament is to admit its existence and be as honest and

transparent as possible. Hence, I am not attempting to prove that something is true or false but, rather, suggest an interpretation, and an approach to the case of *Steam*. What was at first an elusive impression that stirred the idea behind my thesis while playing *PUBG* (PUBG Corp.) is now an indication of *Steam*'s transformation to a vast and complex "social entertainment platform" ("About Steam"). Moreover, I am now able to discern what processes are being enabled by just hitting 'Shift + Tab' to open the in-game overlay, as I did in that example, as well as, what affordances have permitted that capacity to even exist.

Additionally, due to space and time restrictions, my thesis has, inadvertently, left a few unanswered spots concerning *Steam*. More specifically, some very fascinating features, like Steam's Review System or Steam Curators, could be further explored in future researches. For instance, what more do they bring to the table as regards to *Steam*'s platformisation strategy? Or, besides that, how do they contribute to the constitution of *Steam*'s community hubs? The latter could be a very promising research project, which could stem material and sources from José van Dijck's work on *Wikipedia*. Moreover, another paramount feature, which *Steam* offers to videogames published on it, is cost and time efficient updates (i.e. patches) for their works: *SteamPipe*¹⁹ is the tool via which, creators can release their game on *Steam* (from 'closed beta' to 'early access'). So, it seems that, at least for smaller video-game studios, *Steam* is truly a one-way street; thus, what does this mean for indie video-games production in a 'platformised'²⁰ industry?

I believe that future researches could also help to elucidate the shifting dynamics between video-games and *Steam*. As hinted in the analytical chapter, *Steam* might be gradually

¹⁹ https://partner.steamgames.com/doc/sdk/uploading

²⁰ cf. David Nieborg's "Free-to-Play Apps and the Intensification of Platformization" AOIR2017.

transforming into an inseparable component of experiencing video-games, at least in the 'holistic' way that *Steam* has envisioned; this is given away by the platform itself: "Integration with the Steamworks API is never required to ship your product on Steam, but it is *highly recommended* (emphasis mine) as it allows you to accomplish many interactions that Steam users expect." ("Steamworks API Overview"). Thus, *Steam* wants publishers and developers to comply with its standards, without enforcing anything upon their video-games but with creating the appropriate conditions to make it as the sole way of attracting visibility, profits, and so on.

Therefore, it is rather crucial for scholars to intervene and scrutinise these dynamics from a game-studies perspective in order to study what does this new status quo means for the essence of the video-games' medium. For instance, many video-games are now getting released, especially on *Steam*, as 'Early Access'; this new trend might very well derive from the extremely fast pace of games' production and release, which has resulted in an unprecedented competitive market. In the end, do games still manage to move us (Isbister) when they are feverously released, along with a ton of platformisation features, even as early access, or are they progressively becoming a necessary component to keep the 'engine running'?

Works Cited

- Bogost, Ian, and Nick Montfort. "New Media as Material Constraint: An Introduction to Platform Studies." *Hastac 2007.* Hastac, 2007. Web. 13 Apr. 2018.
- Bogost, Ian. Persuasive Games: The Expressive Power of Videogames. Cambridge,
 Massachusetts and London, England: Massachusetts Institute of Technology, 2007. Web.
 10 Apr. 2018.
- boyd, danah. "Social Network Sites as Networked Publics: Affordances, Dynamics, and Implications" A Networked Self: Identity, Community and Culture on Social Network Sites.
 Ed. by Zisi Papacharissi. New York: Routledge, 2011. 39-58. Web. 10 Apr. 2018.
- Bratton, Benjamin. *The Stack: On Software and Sovereignty*. Cambridge: The MIT Press, 2015.Web. 19 Jan. 2018.
- Bucher, Taina, and Helmond, Anne. "The Affordances of Social Media Platforms" *The SAGE Handbook of Social Media* (2016). Web. 18 Jan. 2018.
- Bucher, Taina. "Programmed sociality: A software studies perspective on social networking sites" Ph.D. University of Oslo, 2012. Web. 21 Jan. 2018.
- Corriea, Alexa Ray. "Steam Community Market Beta Now Live, Supports Team Fortress 2" *Polygon*. Polygon, 12 Dec. 2012. Web. 21 Apr. 2018.

Counter-Strike: Global Offensive (GO). Windows PC Version. Valve, 2017.

- Curinga, Matthew. "Critical analysis of interactive media with software affordances." *First Monday*, 19.9 (2014). Web. 21 Apr. 2018.
- Cusumano, Michael. "Technology Strategy and Management: The Evolution of Platform Thinking" *Communications of the ACM* 53.1 (2010): 32-34. Web. 20 Mar. 2018.

- Deterding, Sebastian et al. "From Game Design Elements to Gamefulness: Defining 'Gamification'." *MindTrek '11* (2011). Web. 21 Apr. 2018.
- Dyer Mitch. "How and Why Team Fortress 2 Made Valve Super Rich" *IGN US.* IGN, 07 Mar. 2012. Web. 19 Apr. 2018.
- Dyer-Witheford, Nick, and Greig de Peuter. Games of Empire: Global Capitalism. Minneapolis: Minnesota University Press, 2009. Print.
- Evans, Sandra, Pearce, Katy, Vitak, Jessica, and Treem, Jeffrey. "Explicating Affordances: A Conceptual Framework for Understanding Affordances in Communication Research" *Journal of Computer-Mediated Communication* 22 (2017): 35-52. Web. 19 Jan. 2018.
- Foxman, Maxwell. "How to Win Foursquare Body and Space in a Gamified World" *Rethinking Gamification*. Ed. by Mathias Fuchs, Sonia Fizek, Paolo Ruffino, and Niklas Schrape.Lüneburg: meson press, 2014. Web. 13 Arp. 2018.
- Frissen, Valerie, Sybille Lammes, Michiel De Lange, Jos De Mul, and Joost Raessens. "Homo Ludens 2.0: Play, Media, and Identity." *Playful Identities: The Ludification of Digital Media Cultures*. Ed. Valerie Frissen, Sybille Lammes, Michiel De Lange, Jos De Mul, and Joost Raessens. Amsterdam: Amsterdam University Press, 2015. 9-50. Web. 14 Apr. 2018
- Hopkins, Julian. "Assembling Affordances: Towards a Theory of Relational Affordances" Selected Papers of Internet Research 14.0 (2013): 1-5. Web. 14 Apr. 2018.
- Gillespie, Tarleton. "The Politics of 'Platforms'" New Media & Society 12.3 (2010): 347-364.Web. 14 Jan. 2018.
- ---. "The Platform Metaphor, Revisited" *Culture Digitally*. N.p., 24 Aug. 2017. Web. 21 Apr. 2018.

- Helmond, Anne. "The Platformization of the Web: Making Web Data Platform Ready" SocialMedia + Society 1.11 (2015): 1-11. Web. 18 Jan. 2018.
- Isbister, Katherine. *How Games Move Us: Emotion by Design*. Massachusetts: MIT Press, 2016. Web. 21 Apr. 2018.
- Jenkins, Henry, Ford, Sam, and Green, Joshua. *Spreadable Media: Creating Value and Meaning in a Networked Culture*. New York: NYU Press, 2013. Web. 17 Apr. 2018.
- Kuchera, Ben. "Report: 7,672 Games Were Released on Steam in 2017" Polygon. Polygon, 10 Jan. 2018. Web. 21 Apr. 2018.
- Langlois, Ganale, and Elmer, Greg. "The Research Politics of Social Media Platforms" *Culture Machine* 14 (2013): 1-17. Web. 20 Jan. 2018.
- Nieborg, David. "Crushing Candy: The Free-to-Play Game in Its Connective Commodity Form" *Social Media* + *Society* (2015): 1-12. Web. 21 Apr. 2018.
- ----."Free-To-Play Apps and the Intensification of Platformization." *18Th Annual Conference of The Association of Internet Researchers*. 2017. 1-6. Web. 21 Apr. 2018.
- Manovich, Lev. *Software Takes Command*. London and New York: Bloomsbury Publishing Plc, 2013. Web. 20 Jan. 2018.
- Matulef, Jeffrey. "Steam Direct Fee Will Be \$100 per Title" *Eurogamer.net*. Eurogamer, 06 Feb. 2017. Web. 21 Apr. 2018.
- Makuch, Eddie. "Valve Launches Steam Market" *GameSpot*. Gamespot, 12 Dec. 2012. Web. 21 Apr. 2018.
- Parks, R. Malcolm. "Social Network Sites as Virtual Communities" A Networked Self: Identity, Community and Culture on Social Network Sites. Ed. by Zisi Papacharissi. New York: Routledge, 2011. 105-123. Web. 11 Apr. 2018.

- Parker, Geoffrey, Marsha Van Alstyne, and Sangeet Paul Choudary. Platform Revolution: How Networked Markets Are Transforming the Economy - and How to Make Them Work for You. New York: W.W. Norton, 2017. Web. 14 Apr. 2018.
- Petitte, Omri. "Steam Opens Non-Game Software Store" *PcGamer*. PC Gamer, 02 Oct. 2012. Web. 21 Apr. 2018.

PlayerUnknown's Battlegrounds. Windows PC Version. PUBG Corporation, 2017.

Sicart, Miguel. "Loops and Metagames: Understanding Game Design Structures" *FDG 2015*. N.p., n.d. Web. 14 Apr. 2018.

Srnicek, Nick. Platform Capitalism. Cambridge: Polity Press, 2017. Print.

"Steam (Software)." Wikipedia. Wikimedia Foundation, n.d. Web. 21 Apr. 2018.

- "Steam Trading Cards Wiki." *Steam Trading Cards Wiki / FANDOM Powered by Wikia*. N.p., n.d. Web. 21 Apr. 2018.
- "Steamworks API Overview." *Steamworks API Overview (Steamworks Documentation)*. N.p., n.d. Web. 21 Apr. 2018.
- Team Fortress 2. Windows PC Version. Valve, 2008.
- van Dijck, José. #Aoir2016: Opening Keynote "The Platform Society" By José Van Dijck. 2016. Web. 25 Feb. 2018.

Warframe. Windows PC Version. Digital Extremes, 2017.

Weltevrede, Esther. "Repurposing Digital Methods: The Research Affordances of Platforms and Engines" Ph.D. University of Amsterdam, 2016. 1-18. Web. 18 Jan. 2018.

^{---.} The Culture of Connectivity. New York: Oxford University Press, 2013. Print.